IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

BARBARA MOAKLEY, Petitioner,

CASE NUMBER: 95,471
3rd DCA CASE NUMBER: 98-398
730 So.2d 286 (Fla. 3DCA 1999)

V.

W. SHERI SMALLWOOD, Esq., Respondent

PETITIONER'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

John P. Fenner, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 0762938 Attorney for Petitioner/Former Wife 2300 Glades Road, Suite 203 East Boca Raton, Florida 33431 (561) 750-5044 Fax: (561) 361-9865

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Counsel for Petitioner, Barbara Moakley, certifies that the following persons and entities have, or may have, an interest in the outcome of this case:

- Margaret A. Broz, Esq.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a discretionary review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's post-divorce, final order. The order imposed sanctions on Former Wife Barbara Moakley, and her attorney, Margaret A. Broz, Esq., for subpoening Former Husband Joseph Moakley's former attorney, W. Sheri Smallwood, Esq. The subpoena was to a hearing on Former Wife's Motion to Compel delivery of a mortgage note. The Sixteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Monroe County, Florida, the Honorable Sandra Taylor presiding, entered the order.

"This Court" refers to the Supreme Court of Florida. "The trial court" refers the Circuit Court. This brief will refer to Petitioner/Former Wife, Barbara Moakley, as "Former Wife" and to Joseph Moakley, as "Former Husband".

"Mortgage" will refer to the Mortgage dated August 20, 1986, from Atlantic Waves, Inc. to Joseph and Barbara Moakley (Appendix 3).

"Note" will refer to the note secured by the Mortgage, which the trial court found to be lost, without an existing copy (R 43).

The following symbols will be used in this brief:

"R" ---- Record on Appeal from the Third District Court of Appeal.

"A" ---- Appendix to Petitioner's Initial Brief to the Third DCA.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by the writer, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

<u>Discretionary Review from Third District Court of Appeals:</u>

Petitioner/Former Wife, Barbara Moakley, seeks review of opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal on rehearing, Moakley v. Smallwood, 730 So.2d 285 (Fla. 3DCA 1998) and 730 So.2d 286 (Fla. 3DCA 1999). The case was a post-divorce enforcement action. This decision upheld the trial court's sanctions against Petitioner and her lawyer, payable to Respondent. Respondent was Former Husband's former counsel, but she had withdrawn, and was called as a fact witness. The trial court sanctioned Petitioner and her attorney for subpoening a fact witness--Ms. Smallwood--without a "reasonable explanation". The trial court made no finding of contempt, frivolous or bad faith litigation, lack of a justiciable issue, harassment, inequitable conduct, or any ethical breach.

The affirming decision cited the trial court's "<u>inherent</u> powers" to discipline attorneys under <u>Sanchez v. Sanchez</u>, 435 So.2d 347, 350 (Fla. 3DCA 1983) <u>Patsy v. Patsy</u>, 666 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 4DCA 1996), and other cases decided by the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal, and decisions by the U.S. Supreme Court.

<u>Background of the Case:</u> The parties' divorce involved seven different counsel, and six presiding judges in Broward and Monroe Counties, Florida, and Suffolk County, New York. The Monroe County Docket alone, is 21 pages long. Judge

Taylor was the fourth 16th Circuit Court Judge assigned to this divorce: Judges Payne, Vernon-twice, Shea and Taylor.

Former Husband's Lawyers: During most of the divorce action, other counsel represented Former Husband. Ms. Smallwood first appeared as Former Husband's co-counsel in September, 1996. (Ms. Smallwood later withdrew as co-counsel, but then appeared again as Former Husband's lead counsel in December 1996, after his former lead counsel withdrew (R 4)). Former Husband's records filled ten boxes.

This case has always been assigned to the Marathon Courthouse--50 miles from Ms. Smallwood's Key West office. Judge Taylor held the disputed December 10, 1997 hearing in Marathon.

Ms. Smallwood continued as Former Husband's principal counsel through final pretrial hearings, settlement and post-decree property transfers, until she withdrew, effective July 30, 1997 (A 5). The trial court ordered Former Husband to obtain new counsel, but no substitute counsel ever appeared. William Carew, Esq., Montauk, New York--the parties' former family attorney--also represented Former Husband in the divorce, <u>pro hac vice</u>.

The Final Judgment and the Note (R-6) required Former Husband to turn over to Former Wife, a \$310,000 Note (the "Note") and Mortgage, made by Atlantic Waves, Inc., in favor of Joseph and Barbara Moakley. The Mortgage covered real

property in Suffolk County, New York--a Montauk Ocean-front bar and restaurant.

Mr. Carew had prepared the Note and Mortgage in 1986 (A 3, p.6).

The Missing Note: The Mortgage refers to the Note it secures, and the trial court's June 5, 1997 post-decree Order (A 4) also required Former Husband to transfer the Note to Former Wife. Nonetheless, neither the Note nor a copy have ever been produced. Former Husband failed to deliver either the Note, or the original Mortgage to the Former Wife (A 6).

At the December 10, 1997 hearing--as set forth in the trial court's detailed findings in its December 26, 1997 Order--Former Husband stated that all his records were in the hands of counsel (R 42). Mr. Carew denied he had the Note (R 42, 43). He stated that the balance of Former Husband's documents had been in Ms. Smallwood's possession (R 42). Ms. Smallwood testified that the Note was not in Former Husband's ten boxes of files, when she had them (R 42).

As a result of this testimony, Judge Taylor determined in her December 26, 1997 Order, "that the Note is lost, and there is no existing copy."

Need for the Note in the New York Foreclosure: On July 2, 1997, Former Wife had filed to foreclose the Mortgage (A 3), in Suffolk County, New York. Section 10 of the Foreclosure Complaint states that Former Wife "is now the sole, true and lawful owner of the [Note]" (A 2, p.3).

The trial court accordingly found in its December 26, 1997 Order (R 42):

The Mortgage is presently in foreclosure, and the Former Wife has been prejudiced by not having the Note. Further the Mortgage could lose significant value if the foreclosure is hindered.

Ms. Smallwood Receives Notice of Hearing: On December 4, 1997 Ms. Broz, Former Wife's lead counsel, faxed copies of her Motion to Compel Tender of Original Documents, to Mr. Carew and to Ms. Smallwood, together with a Notice of Hearing for December 10, 1997 (R 15).

Ms. Broz Issues Subpoenas: Ms. Broz gave the subpoena for Ms. Smallwood's appearance, to a licensed Monroe County process server. Ms. Broz also subpoenaed Mr. Carew, who testified by telephone.

The process server delivered Ms. Smallwood's subpoena to her secretary on December 8, 1997. Although Ms. Smallwood's service was technically defective--the subpoena was left with a secretary rather than with Ms. Smallwood personally, or with her office manager after an unsuccessful attempted service--Ms. Broz had no control over how the subpoena was served.

Ms. Smallwood Files Motion to Quash, etc.: On December 9, 1997, the day before the hearing, Ms. Smallwood served her 14-page Special and Limited Appearance, Motion to Quash, Motion to Strike, Motion for Protective Order to be Moot, Request for Sanctions, and Request for Fees, Costs, Expenses and Suit

Monies, by fax. The Motion stated Ms. Smallwood had insufficient time to respond to the subpoena. Ms. Smallwood's Motion for Sanctions was never set for a hearing. There was no Notice of Hearing for sanctions.

Ms. Smallwood did not ask to testify by telephone, as Mr. Carew testified. She did not offer her affidavit in lieu of testimony. Ms. Smallwood appeared in person at the December 10, 1997 hearing.

The Court Orders Sanctions: On January 28, 1998, the trial court granted Ms. Smallwood's Motion to Quash, etc., sanctioning Former Wife and Ms. Broz. This Order issued seven weeks after the hearing (set on the Motion to Compel), a month after finding the Note was lost, but without further hearing or notice.

The trial court stated that the subpoena did not give sufficient or timely notice, and added:

It is unclear to this Court why it was necessary to subpoena former counsel to appear and testify when all involved agreed the subpoenaed attorney did not have the document.

The Order awarded Ms. Smallwood \$1,125,

compensating the subpoenaed attorney for her time in responding to the subpoena [payable by] Former Wife and Former Wife's counsel, as a sanction for their conduct in connection with these proceedings which the court finds to have been unnecessary, and improper.

The trial court made no finding of contempt, untruthfulness, bad faith or

frivolous litigation, lack of a justiciable issue, harassment, inequitable conduct, or any violation of any ethical standards.

The Third DCA Upholds, On Circuit Court's "Inherent Powers": The Third DCA upheld the trial court's sanctions, on the basis of the circuit Court's "inherent powers," to discipline lawyers, citing federal cases, Sanchez v. Sanchez, supra, Patsy v. Patsy, supra, and other subsequent cases decided by the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal.

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third DCA's decision gives circuit court judges--constitutional officers--discretionary power over attorney discipline, under what it calls the Circuit Court's "inherent powers." For the following reasons, this violates the Florida and United States Constitutions and the following decisions of this Court:

I. THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION "OUSTED" ANY INHERENT POWERS OF CIRCUIT COURTS TO DISCIPLINE LAWYERS, EXCEPT FOR CONTEMPT.

Article V, Section 15 of the Florida Constitution, grants the Supreme Court "exclusive jurisdiction" to discipline lawyers.

In 1956, Article V of the Florida Constitution "ousted" Circuit Courts of whatever "inherent disciplinary power over attorneys" they previously held, except for contempt, <u>State ex rel Arnold v. Revels</u>. 109 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1959).

The Supreme Court has redelegated concurrent jurisdiction over discipline to the Circuit Courts, in Disciplinary Rule 3-3.5 "under these Rules of Discipline"--only in accordance with the procedures of Disciplinary Procedure Rule 3-7.8--<u>Procedures Before a Circuit Court</u>, and Canon 3D of the Code of Judicial Conduct--<u>Disciplinary Responsibilities</u>.

The trial court did not follow these procedures.

II. ISSUING THE SUBPOENA, WAS NOT IMPROPER. THE DECISION

ARBITRARILY EXPANDS EVEN THE "INHERENT POWERS" DESCRIBED IN SANCHEZ v. SANCHEZ, et al.

The attorney issued a subpoena to a fact witness, because her client needed either the Note or a finding that it was lost. The fact witness appeared. Ms. Smallwood testified that she did not have the Note and had not seen it, when she was Former Husband's trial counsel.

The trial court issued its December 26, 1997 Order, stating that the Note was lost, and finding its importance to the Former Wife.

III. THE TRIAL COURT USED "INHERENT POWERS" ARBITRARILY, WITHOUT STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES, VIOLATING DUE PROCESS.

Ms. Broz broke no rule or law. The trial court used its "inherent powers" arbitrarily, without rules, guidelines or standards. It is impossible to tell in advance what conduct will be sanctioned.

Even if Ms. Broz violated a Disciplinary Rule, the trial court did not give her time to prepare a defense, or a hearing in the seven weeks between the December 10, 1997 hearing, and its January 28, 1998 Order appealed. The trial court failed to follow the procedures set forth in Disciplinary Rule of Procedure 3-7.8, or the Rules governing contempt.

By purporting to entertain the Motion for Sanctions on the day after it was served, at the hearing on the Motion to Compel, and without any notice that it was

going to be heard at that time, the trial court disregarded the basic requirements of due process.

IV. THIS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THREE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

The First, Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal reject a Florida trial court's "inherent right" to sanction lawyers outside of the Disciplinary Rules.

Article V, Section 5(b), Fla. Constitution, provides that "<u>Jurisdiction</u> of the circuit court shall be uniform throughout the State." This is not uniform.

V. THIS DECISION HAS A CHILLING EFFECT ON LAWYERS' DUTY TO REPRESENT THEIR CLIENTS ZEALOUSLY, WITHIN THE LAW. How can lawyers obtain evidence from reluctant witnesses, if trial courts can award extra-legal sanctions (above statutory witness fees) to hostile witnesses, because they articulately complain? If lawyers can be sanctioned for using diligence, why should they take on any but the best-paying cases?

ARGUMENT

This decision expressly affects the "inherent powers" and jurisdiction of a class of constitutional officers--Circuit Court Judges, <u>Behr v. Bell</u>, 665 So.2d 1055 (1996). The Third DCA's decision gives the trial court discretionary power over attorney discipline, under what it calls the Circuit Court's "inherent powers."

This decision directly conflicts with the following decisions of this Court on the same question of law:

I. THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION "OUSTED" ANY INHERENT POWERS OF CIRCUIT COURTS TO DISCIPLINE LAWYERS, EXCEPT FOR CONTEMPT.

<u>The Supreme Court's has "Exclusive Jurisdiction"</u>. Article V, Section 15, Florida Constitution states:

The supreme court shall have <u>exclusive jurisdiction</u> to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law, and the <u>discipline of persons</u> admitted.

This Section is the successor to Article V, Section 23 of the 1956 Revision to the 1885 Florida Constitution. It gives "exclusive jurisdiction" over attorney discipline to this Court alone. Article V of the Constitution, was part of Florida's epic struggle for an independent judiciary, and for an independent, integrated Bar.

By vesting this exclusive jurisdiction in the Supreme Court, Article V took away the "inherent powers" of the Circuit Courts to discipline lawyers, previously

articulated in State ex rel Sheiner v. Giblin, 73 So.2d 851 (Fla. 1954), et al.

This Court stated this fundamental change in jurisdiction in <u>State ex rel Arnold</u> v. Revels, 109 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1959):

As of July 1, 1957--the effective date of revised Article V of the Florida Constitution, F.S.A.--the **circuit courts of this state were ousted of whatever inherent disciplinary power over attorneys they had previously held**, as well as the statutory power derived from Ch. 454, Fla.Stat.1955, F.S.A. This necessarily follows from the clear and unambiguous language of 23 of revised Article V, vesting in the Supreme Court of Florida '**exclusive** jurisdiction over the admission to the practice of law and the discipline of persons admitted.' (Emphasis added.) The legislature was likewise divested of any legislative control in this field by 23 of Article V. See <u>State ex rel. Florida State Bar v.</u> Evans, Fla.1957, 94 So.2d 730.

Simultaneously, however, with the divesting of the circuit courts and the Legislature of jurisdiction in this field, and the vesting thereof exclusively in this court, this court gave back to the circuit courts the statutory power of discipline which the people, by their mandate in adopting revised Article V. had taken away. This it did by adopting Circuit Court Rule 3.1, effective July 1, 1957. State ex rel Arnold v. Revels, 109 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1959)]

This Court then continued to give back disciplinary jurisdiction to Circuit Courts, by adopting then-existing Chapter 454, 1955 Florida Statutes, "as a <u>rule of the Supreme Court....</u>", <u>id.</u>

This Court continued, making it clear that Circuit Courts lacked all jurisdiction in this area, except as the Supreme Court delegated by Rule:

Whether the St. Johns County Circuit Court entertained the disbarment proceedings against an attorney whose principal practice and office was in another county and judicial circuit, by virtue of 'the

necessary and inherent power vested in it to control the conduct of its own affairs and to maintain its essential dignity', <u>State ex rel. Sheiner v. Giblin</u>, Fla. 1954, 72 So.2d 851, or by virtue of the statutory authority derived from Ch. 454, Fla.Stat. 1955, F.S.A., is beside the point. The essential fact remains that, by an organic mandate of the people, the circuit courts of this state were divested of all power, whether inherent or statutory, to discipline attorneys.

The jurisdiction failed as completely as it would have, if such jurisdiction had depended upon a statute that was repealed by another statute. And, as stated in Ex parte McCardle, 1868, 7 Wall. 506, 514, 19 L.Ed.2d 264, 'Without jurisdiction the court cannot proceed at all in any cause. Jurisdiction is power to declare the law, and when it ceases to exist, the only function remaining to the court is that of announcing the fact and dismissing the cause.' [State ex rel Arnold v. Revels, 109 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1959)]

Finally, to establish that the Legislature could no longer change or establish disciplinary rules by amending Fla. Stat. 454, this Court then ruled that its subsequent Rule "superseded" conflicting parts of that Statute:

By its order of May 9, 1958, supra, this court adopted a Rule of Court that, in effect, divested all circuit judges in this state, except a circuit judge 'of the judicial circuit in which the accused attorney's office is located', of jurisdiction to 'try and determine' a disbarment proceeding. The May 9, 1958 order also expressly provided that Section 454.24-454.29, and such parts of section 454.30-454.32 as were in conflict with the Rule therein adopted, were 'superseded'. Thus, instead of a statute repealing a statute upon which jurisdiction depends, we have here a Rule of Court repealing those portions of a statute, adopted as a Rule of this court by Rule 3.1 supra, upon which jurisdiction depended. [State ex rel Arnold v. Revels, 109 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1959)]

<u>Exemption for Contempt.</u> This Court later stated that other courts have the "inherent power" to punish minor attorney misconduct. These are "lesser infractions"

not requiring suspension or disbarment--through the courts' inherent powers of **contempt**, Burns v. Huffstetler, 433 So.2d 964, 965-6 (Fla. 1983); Gifford v. Payne, 432 So.2d 38, 39 (Fla. 1983); and Shelley v. District Court of Appeal, 350 So.2d 471, 472-3 (Fla. 1977)--quoting only federal cases as authority. This Court, in Burns v. Huffstetler, supra, set forth the three methods of attorney discipline:

There are three alternative methods for the disciplining of attorneys, and the first two procedures derive directly from this Court's delegation of its power to regulate the practice of law in Florida, as conferred by Article V. section 15, Florida Constitution.

The first alternative is the traditional grievance committee-referee process in which an attorney is prosecuted by The Florida Bar under the direction of the Board of Governors. Under this procedure, sanctions are imposed by the Supreme Court after the Court considers the referee's recommendations. See Fla.Bar Integration Rule, art. XI, Rules 11.02-11.13.

The second alternative is a procedure initiated by the judiciary with the state attorney prosecuting. Judgment is entered by the trial court and is subject to review by the Supreme Court. See Fla.Bar Integration Rule, art. XI, Rule 11.14.

The third alternative is the exercise of the inherent power of the courts to impose contempt sanctions on attorneys for lesser infractions, a procedure which this Court expressly approved in <u>Shelley v. District Court of Appeal</u>, 350 So.2d 471 (Fla.1977).

The trial court in this case was exercising its inherent power in dealing with contempt of court and was utilizing the procedures established in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.840, to impose sanctions upon petitioner for his unethical conduct.

This Court restated this principle in 1994 in a <u>dictum</u>, in <u>Levin</u>, <u>Middlebrooks</u>, <u>Mabie</u>, et al. v. U.S. Fire Insurance Co., 639 So.2d 606, 609-610 (Fla. 1994):

Clearly the trial judge has the inherent power to do things

necessary to enforce its orders, to conduct business in a proper manner, and to protect the court from acts obstructing the administration of justice. In particular, a trial court would have the ability to use its contempt powers to vindicate its authority and protect its integrity by imposing a compensatory fine as punishment for contempt. <u>South Dade Farms</u>, Inc. v. Peters, 88 So.2d 891 (Fla. 1956).

There was no finding of contempt against Ms. Broz or her client in the case at bar, however. Their actions did not obstruct the administration of justice, challenge the trial court's authority, or undermine its integrity. They merely inconvenienced a fact witness who was necessary to the trial.

With this one exception for contempt, this Court has been consistent in its insistence on its exclusive jurisdiction to discipline lawyers. Bar Rule of Discipline 3-1.2, 605 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1992) provides:

The Supreme Court of Florida has the **inherent power** and duty to prescribe standards of conduct for lawyers, to determine what constituted grounds for discipline of lawyers, [and] to discipline for cause attorneys admitted to practice law in Florida....

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