IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

BARBARA MOAKLEY, Appellant, Sup. Ct. Case No. 95,471 DCA Case No. 98-398

VS.

SHERI SMALLWOOD, Appellee.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

> SHERI SMALLWOOD, CHARTERED SHERI SMALLWOOD, ESQUIRE Appellee FBN 176103 1016 Eaton Street Key West, FL 33040 (305) 296-0146

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	

This case presents for review a facially innocuous Order, which is sustainable under the

Court's power to compel the payment of witnesses or to require parties and counsel before it to do that which equity, justice, and the law require. The importance of the case, and the real issue this Court is asked to decide, however, lie elsewhere.

Through this case, this Court is actually being asked to, and has the opportunity to, decide whether all of Florida's Courts have "inherent authority" to sanction counsel for actions taken in connection with litigation. Both Appellant and Appellee argue that the lower Courts lack that authority.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

If the true issue is the inherent authority of the lower Courts, there are few facts of importance which need be stated.

This was a divorce case involving the marriage between Joseph and Barbara Moakley. Appellant Broz, and Mr. Fenner, were counsel for the wife. Appellee represented the husband for a brief period at the end of the case. Final Judgment was entered January 1997. Among other things, it required the husband to assign a note and mortgage to the wife. Before the Judgment was effectuated, Appellee withdrew and was released of all further obligations in connection with the case. Appellants knew at that time that Appellee did not have the original note and mortgage.

Appellee had no further contact with the matter or the parties for most of a year. Then suddenly, in December of 1997, Appellants served her with a subpoena commanding her to appear a day or two later, at a hearing, 50 miles away, to testify in the case. Appellee called the Appellant attorney and repeated that she did not have the documents in question. She voiced her objection to

1

being compelled to drive 100 miles to tell the Court that. Appellant counsel refused to release Appellee from the subpoena. Appellee honored the subpoena, appeared at the hearing, and

requested compensation.

The trial Court concluded that the Appellee was entitled to reasonable compensation in a particular amount which was explained in the Order. The amount related to the time Appellee had been required to expend in responding to the subpoena. The wife, as the party, was directed to pay such sum to the Appellee. Because the Court could see no good reason for the wife's attorney's actions in compelling Appellee to appear at the hearing, said attorney was Ordered to contribute to the payment.

Contrary to Appellant's statement, Appellee did not leave the hearing "before she could receive her witness fee". Appellee remained at the hearing until excused by the Court. No such fee was ever tendered to her.

Appellee does not recall whether she formally testified at the hearing or whether she spoke as an officer of the Court under recognition of the Judge. Although she has no present memory of any specific statements she may have made, whatever she said related either to actions taken by her in her professional capacity as counsel for the husband or to her time and fees for purposes of her request for compensation.

Also, although Appellants would have this Court believe that the underlying case was always a Marathon case (Marathon being the city 50 miles away to which Appellee was summoned), the fact is that all of the work Appellee did, and every proceeding which was conducted in the matter throughout the time Appellee was involved with it, took place in Key West. At all times pertinent hereto, other than the December 1997, hearing which led to the Order here under review, this was

2

handled as a Key West case, by a Judge assigned to Key West. Mediation was in Key West. The non-jury trial took place in Key West. The Final Judgment was prepared, presented, and entered

in Key West. The few hearings which occurred post-Judgment, but prior to Appellee's withdrawal, were scheduled and noticed by Appellant counsel for Key West, and the same were actually conducted in Key West.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial Court's Order in this case is sustainable, and it should be upheld, but not under inherent power.
- 2. The exercise by trial Courts of inherent powers to discipline lawyers, in the absence of contempt, contravenes the Florida Constitution's grant of exclusive jurisdiction over that subject matter to The Florida Supreme Court (Art. V, Sec. 15).
 - 3. Trial Courts do not and should not have such inherent authority.

ARGUMENT

For purposes of this brief, it is stipulated that Appellants' actions which led to the challenged Order did not violate any specific, written, substantive, material rule or law. No one disputes that attorneys may issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of witnesses at hearings. Rule 1.410, F. R. Civ. P. In doing so, however, they and their clients obligate themselves to compensate their witnesses. Keitel v. Keitel, 701 So.2d 413 (Fla. App. 4th DCA 1997). Section 92.151, F.S., provides that "(c)ompensation shall be paid to the witness by the party in whose behalf the witness is summoned".

Likening this case to one in which a party and its counsel subpoena a doctor, such

3

compensation includes not only the actual cost of the time the witness spends testifying, but also the time required for the witness to prepare and to travel to and from the proceeding. Gardner vs.

<u>Woodward</u>, 1999 WL 454389 (Fla. App. 4th DCA 1999). It also encompasses expenses reasonably incurred by the witness in responding to the subpoena. Additional reference is made to Section 92.153, F.S.. Appellee met the definition of a "disinterested witness". By law it is directed that she "shall be paid" for any costs reasonably incurred, directly or indirectly, in producing, searching for, reproducing, or transporting documents pursuant to a summons, and such payment is to be made by the person requesting the summons.

Appellee respectfully submits that the right to compensation does not depend upon the nature of the witness's testimony, but rather upon the characteristics and qualifications of the witness. There are times when a doctor may be called to testify, or may actually be questioned once s/he is on the stand, only about what s/he saw and did, fact matters, without ever being required or asked to give an opinion. That does not prevent the doctor from receiving his/her fees as a professional. S/he is entitled to be compensated for his/her services and for the time necessarily taken away from his/her practice and other endeavors. S/he is entitled to reimbursement for what it cost him/her to appear.

When a witness is subpoenaed, the paper s/he receives does not, as a rule, specify that s/he is being called as an expert, skilled, professional, or lay witness. It simply commands him/her to appear. Moreover, the witness has no control over what s/he will be, or actually is, asked. It is respectfully submitted that a party and/or attorney cannot avoid the obligation to pay compensation to a professional, expert, orskilled witness, simply by refraining from asking him/her an opinion question.

In litigation, and in the law in general, that which is fair, right, just, and equitable should be

4

done. The rule is, and must be, that the party/attorney who subpoenas a witness has the obligation to pay him/her, and if the witness is an expert, skilled, or professional, that stature is reflected in

the amount which must be paid.

There are some cases which indicate that it is within a trial Court's discretion whether or not to award witness fees. <u>Travieso</u> vs. <u>Travieso</u>, 474 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1985). Those cases appear to pertain to circumstances in which opposing parties to an action dispute which of them should bear such expense, however, and Appellee does not believe they are applicable to the instant situation. To the extent they may be read to extend to the issue of whether a witness is entitled to compensation or not, it is respectfully submitted that they should be interpreted as placing the matter squarely within the lower Court's discretion, and as we all know, appellate Courts do not substitute their judgment as to such matters for that of the trial Courts.

When the issue is clearly the witness's entitlement to compensation, there appears to be considerably less latitude afforded by the caselaw. Where the witness expects to be compensated for his/her testimony, the award is mandatory and not discretionary. Stokus vs. Phillips, 651 So.2d 1244 (Fla. App. 2d DCA 1995).

Based upon such authority, the Appellee respectfully submits that she was entitled to receive reasonable compensation for her services as a witness at a professional rate, and that Appellants had the obligation to pay the same.

Appellants seemingly agree that Appellee was entitled to receive a fee. What they appear to contest is the amount of the same. In that regard, Section 92.231, Fla. Stat. is instructive. It provides for the compensation of expert witnesses and of skilled witnesses. Under the facts of this case, Appellee could have been either, and as such, she was entitled to a fee in the amount the trial

5

Judge deemed reasonable.

Respondent respectfully submits that the trial Court's Order in this case can and should be

upheld on the basis of such authority. Note is made, however, that the Order could also be sustained on the basis of implied contract (when one engages the witness, s/he impliedly agrees to pay a fair and reasonable fee for the witness's services), under the theory of quantum meruit, or some form of the inequitable conduct doctrine. <u>Bitterman</u> vs. <u>Bitterman</u>, 714 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1998). It might be found to be nothing more than an application of the rule that one is responsible for the direct and proximate, reasonably foreseeable consequences of his/her actions.

Appellants' argument that there was no notice as to the matter of the witness's right to compensation or the amount thereof is fallacious. It must be remembered that in the context of these proceedings, the Appellee was a witness and nothing more. She was not a party. She was not the attorney of record for a party. There is nothing in the law, of which Appellee is aware, that would permit third party strangers to a case, to assume the right to file pleadings and to set and notice hearings. Were there such provision, all semblance of order in legal proceedings would be lost, and the case, as well as the issues and expenses, would be totally removed from the control of the parties.

The only reasonable and logical time and place to deal with the issue of witness fees, and to secure the evidence needed for an award of the same, is when the witness testifies. Otherwise, multiple hearings would be required, considerable unnecessary and avoidable expense would be incurred by all concerned, and witnesses would be subjected to the totally unjustifiable burden of redundant appearances.

The law recognizes this. The Legislature provided, in Section 92.151, Fla. Stat., that if a

6

witness serves without payment in advance, at the completion of his/her services, s/he may exhibit his/her account for compensation, for approval by the Court, and for payment by the party in whose

behalf s/he was summoned. The matter is handled right then and there. It was in this case. The Appellants are not entitled to two chances to make their case.

The argument to this point clearly justifies the Court's Order to the wife requiring her to compensate the Appellee. There is equally compelling authority upon which the Court could direct the Appellant counsel to contribute to payment of Appellee's fees.

Stated in the simplest of terms, attorneys are not permitted to make misrepresentations to or to mislead Courts. The attorney Appellant in this case did. The Court had every right to hold her responsible for her actions, and in doing so it was not necessary for it to rely upon or to resort to any "inherent powers".

Along with the subpoena, the attorney Appellant presented a Motion. In it she sought an Order to Show Cause against Appellee. Attorney Appellant asserted that, as of that time, December 1997, Appellee:

- 1) had "an obligation to assist her client in complying with court orders and in effectuating the transfers agreed upon by the parties";
 - 2) had failed to do so; and
 - 3) had offered no explanation for such failure.

Appellant counsel asked the Court to Order Appellee:

- A) "to comply with the transfer of documents ordered";
- B) to tender the original note and mortgage;
- C) to enter an Order to Show Cause against Appellee for her "failure to ensure compliance with court orders".

At the time the Appellant attorney presented that Motion, she knew the Appellee did not have the documents; she knew the Appellee had neither a client, nor an obligation as alleged. She knew

7

that there was no responsibility on Appellee which Appellee had not met. Her allegations to the contrary were false, and she knew them to be false when she made them.

Moreover, the attorney Appellant knew the Court lacked jurisdiction over the Appellee, that the Court could not Order the Appellee to transfer any documents, and there was no Order on which Appellee could be held in contempt. Appellant counsel's novel suggestion that the Court could Order Appellee to show cause why she should not be held in contempt for her alleged failure to ensure compliance with Court Orders is so totally divorced from reality that no more need be said about it.

Appellant attorney knew her Motion was baseless when she filed it. It could have had no purpose other than harassment. The award against her can and should be sustained on that basis.

Although the Court might easily end its review of this case on such reasoning, it is doubtful that it granted certiorari only to dispose of the case in summary fashion. It is thought that the Court must have desired and intended to go beyond merely sustaining the Order, to address the underlying, and considerably more important, issue of "inherent authority", that being the basis of the District Court's ruling, and it is to that issue that the Appellee now turns.

The Appellant attorney's actions in this case were irksome, inconsiderate, unnecessary, and professionally discourteous. She exercised bad judgment. She imposed upon and burdened Appellee for no good reason. While all would probably agree that such actions are inappropriate, not everyone would say they should form the basis for imposition of sanctions, and even those who would agree that sanctions might follow, would not be in accord as to which Court might have the authority to impose the same, or the standards by which such conduct should be judged. The question is: does each and every Court have the power ("inherent authority") to discipline counsel for actions of the type identified.

8

Appellee respectfully submits that the answer to that question is, should be, and must be, no.

Appellant correctly observes that Article V, Section 15, of Florida's Constitution vests exclusive jurisdiction over the discipline of lawyers in The Supreme Court. Without going into the reason for such provision or the history behind its adoption, both of which Appellants have covered well, Appellee accepts the provision as a given, and submits that it means exactly what it says. Under the Constitutional scheme of things, The Supreme Court has "exclusive jurisdiction to regulate ... the discipline of persons admitted (to the practice of law)."

The Supreme Court has implemented the Constitutional grant of authority through a comprehensive set of rules regulating The Florida Bar. Those rules reserve unto the Supreme Court, its ultimate decision-making power over the regulation and discipline of counsel. They establish a very definite structure and a fixed set of procedures for disciplinary actions. They include standards and criteria by which attorney conduct may be judged.

Whether one agrees with the Rules or not, they exist, and at least they provide some degree of due process in the procedure.

Rule 3-3.5, of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar contains a limited delegation of authority to the Circuit Courts to act with respect to certain aspects of lawyer discipline. Significantly, however, the Supreme Court's ultimate decision-making authority is not delegated. The Rule provides that the jurisdiction given to the Circuit Courts lasts only until the final determination of the cause. The final determination continues to be made by The Supreme Court.

The powers granted to Circuit Courts to act with respect to lawyer discipline are exercised in accordance with Rule 3-7.8, R. Regulating Fla. Bar. This case was not brought under the partial delegation of authority. The procedures required under the Rule were not followed. Nevertheless,

9

those procedures are important to this Court's decision in the instant situation in that they clearly

envision an absolute right to review in The Supreme Court.

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